UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-28-2013

Ada County v. City of Garden City Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40084

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by Appellants-Defendants, City of Meridian and City of Garden City (hereafter "Cities"). The Cities appeal from an Order of the Fourth Judicial District Court sitting *en banc*, dismissing an action seeking declaratory relief filed by Plaintiffs, Ada County and the Board of Ada County Commissioners, (hereafter "County") (Ada County Case No. CV-OC-2010-24980). The Cities also appeal from entry of an Order, filed on May 11, 2012, denying the Cities' *Motion to Vacate the 1994 Order* entered by the District Court against the Cities in 1994. This 2012 administrative order was entered and stamped by the Ada County Clerk's Office but does not have a case number. The Order is titled "IN RE: FACILITIES, EQUIPMENT, STAFF, PERSONNEL, SUPPLIES AND OTHER EXPENSES OF THE MAGISTRATE DIVISION." (R. pp 416-431)

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS IN THE DISTRICT COURT.

The 2010 *Complaint for Declaratory Relief* filed by the Respondent County sought an order from the District Court to: (1) confirm the validity of the 1994 Administrative Order requiring the Cities to provide separate magistrate court facilities; (2) expand the scope of the Order to include both civil and criminal magistrate cases; and (3) require the Cities to provide a compliance plan for making the court provisions. (R. Vol. I, pp. 5-36.) Appellants Cities denied the allegations and set forth numerous affirmative defenses, including, that the Cities were denied due process of law in the original entry of the 1994 Order and that the circumstances had **APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF - pg. 2**

changed significantly since the 1994 Order was entered thereby ending the necessity of the Order. (R. Vol. I, pp. 59-78.)

Initially the Cities filed a *Joint Motion to Disqualify* the judges of the Fourth Judicial District from sitting on the case and requested that a district judge from outside the Fourth Judicial District be assigned to the case. (R. Vol. I, pp. 80-81.) At a scheduling conference before the Honorable Judge Timothy Hansen on February 24, 2011, the parties were informed that the matter would be heard by an *en banc* panel of the Fourth Judicial District. (R. Vol. I, p. 79.) The Cities objected to the *en banc* panel sitting on the case on the basis that the *Complaint for Declaratory Relief* was a civil action and the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure did not provide for the utilization of an *en banc* panel. (R. Vol. I, pp. 143-144.) The Cities Motion and Objection were heard on September 17, 2011 *en banc* by the Fourth Judicial District.¹ (R. Vol. I, p. 187.) In separate written decisions the judges sitting on the Panel denied the Cities' Motion. (R. Vol. I, pp. 188-248.)

Subsequently, the Cities filed a *Joint Motion to Vacate the 1994 Order* on the specific bases that the judges exceeded their statutory authority pursuant to I.C. §1-1622 and because the Cities had not been afforded due process of law when the 1994 Order was initially issued. (R. Vol. I, pp. 262-265.) The Motion was again heard *en banc* by the Fourth Judicial District. On May 11, 2012 the Panel issued a (1) *Memorandum Decision*, (2) an *Order Denying Motion to*

¹ The Honorable Michael Wetherell did not sit due to his participation, as a Boise City Councilman, in the construction of the present Ada County Courthouse and Administration Building and the closure of the magistrate facility on Barrister Street.

Vacate 1994 Order, and (3) a *Judgment Dismissing Declaratory Judgment Action*. (R. Vol. I, pp. 416-419, 420-429, 430-431.) The *Memorandum Decision* held that the declaratory judgment action was an "inappropriate mechanism" to determine the validity of the 1994 Order and dismissed the County's declaratory judgment lawsuit. In the same decision the Panel, citing to its inherent court powers, chose to convert the Cities *Motion to Vacate the 1994 Order* (filed in the now dismissed declaratory judgment action) into a Petition by the Cities to vacate the 1994 Order. (R. Vol. I, pp. 417-418). In doing so the Panel indicated that it was opening up the 1994 administrative process in which the earlier 1994 Order had been entered.

In the Order Denying Motion to Vacate the 1994 Order, the Panel held in relation to the issuance of the 1994 Order that: "Due process does not require the judges to engage in formalized process to come to a conclusion that a city's magistrate division caseload justifies imposing a requirement to provide facilities." (R. Vol. I, p. 427.) The Panel further ordered the Cities to prepare a plan for the Administrative Judge indicating how the Cities intended to comply with the 1994 Order. (*Id.*)

The Panel also stated that the Cities did not challenge the 1994 Order on the grounds of caseload or a substantial and material change in circumstance. This holding was without basis. The Cities initially argued their motion to vacate based on the lack of due process. The Cities did not concede the other issues and did not anticipate that the Cities' motion in the declaratory judgment lawsuit, after oral argument, would lead to a reopening of the administrative process and a administrative order directing compliance with the 1994 Order.

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1993, then Trial Court Administrator for the Fourth Judicial District, John Traylor, requested that the City of Boise file a petition with the Fourth Judicial District asking the District Judges to:

[A]ppoint a special master to conduct discovery and hold hearings for the purpose of recommending to the District Judges that the cities of Meridian and Garden City should contribute money to the operation of the Ada County magistrate division located on Barrister Drive in the City of Boise.

(Affidavit of William L. M. Nary in Support of Garden City and Meridian's Motion to Vacate the 1994 Order (hereinafter "Nary Aff."), R. Vol. I, p. 266.) Mr. Traylor told the City of Boise that then Administrative Judge of the Fourth Judicial District, Gerald Schroeder, was prepared to appoint W.E. Smith, a retired District Judge, to act as the special master once the petition was filed. (Nary Aff., R. Vol. I, pp. 266-67.)

On June 10, 1994, the City of Boise and Ada County signed an <u>unverified</u> *Petition to the District Judges of the Fourth Judicial District* (hereinafter the "*Petition*") consistent with the petition that Mr. Traylor had requested the City of Boise file. (*Nary Aff.*, Exh. A., R Vol. I, pp. 272-275.) The Petition was signed by then Boise City Attorney Amanda Horton and Ada County Prosecutor Greg H. Bower on behalf of the City of Boise and Ada County respectively. (*Nary Aff.*, Exh. A, R. Vol. I, p.275; *Affidavit of Debbie Allen* (hereafter "*Allen Aff.*", Exh. 1, p. 4., R. Vol. I, p.303). In short, the Petition asked the District Judges to:

[A]ppoint a Special Master, pursuant to Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 53 to gather evidence, hold hearings, and report to the <u>District Judges</u> of the Fourth Judicial his/her finding regarding the level of contributions for the operation of the Magistrate Division of the Fourth Judicial District by the Cities of Meridian and Garden City.

(*Nary Aff.*, Exh. A, R. Vol. I, p.274) (emphases added). The Petition also requested that the special master be allowed to "assess the potential of also including the Cities of Kuna and Eagle in this cost-sharing arrangement." (*Id.* at p. 275.)

On June 21, 1994, the City of Boise hand delivered a copy of the Petition to John Traylor. (*Nary Aff.*, R. Vol. I, p. 267.) (noting that the Petition was "filed w/ John Traylor 6/21/94 4:15 p.m.") The Petition was not filed with the Ada County Clerk. (*Nary Aff.*, R. Vol. I, p. 267.) The Petition was not served on the Cities. (*Id.*)

On August 12, 1994, seven District Judges of the Fourth Judicial District signed a document entitled "*Order*" (hereinafter the "1994 Order") in the matter "*In Re: Facilities, Equipment, Staff Personnel, Supplies and Other Expenses of the Magistrate Division.*" (*Nary Aff.*, Exh. B. R. Vol. I, pp. 277-278.) Later that same day, Mr. Traylor personally served the 1994 Order on Meridian and Garden City. (*Nary Aff.*, Exh. C, R. Vol. I, p. 280.)

The 1994 Order required the cities of Meridian and Garden City to "provide by October 1, 1994 suitable and adequate quarters for the magistrate's division of the Fourth Judicial District...." (*Nary Aff.*, Exh. B, R. Vol. I, pp. 277-278.) The text of the 1994 Order reveals that the District Judges signed the document after "[h]aving reviewed the Petition filed by the City of

Boise and Ada County...." (*Id.*) The 1994 Order makes no reference to the District Judges having held any hearings, gathered any evidence, or done anything other than "having reviewed the Petition" before signing the 1994 Order. (*Id.*) Likewise, there is no evidence on the record suggesting that the District Judges held any hearings or considered any testimony or evidence other than the unverified Petition before signing the 1994 Order. (*See, e.g., Nary Aff.*, R. Vol. I, p. 267.)

On August 26, 1994, the City Attorneys for the cities of Meridian and Garden City signed a joint "*Motion for Reconsideration or Delay in Execution*" and a "*Memorandum in Support of Motion to Reconsider or Delay Imposition*". (*Nary Aff.*, ¶ 7, Exh. D, R Vol. I, pp. 283-284.) On that same day, the City of Meridian served the *Motion for Reconsideration* and *Memorandum in Support* on the City of Boise and Ada County. (*Nary Aff.*, Exh. D, R. Vol. I, pp. 285-295; *Allen Aff.*, R. Vol. I, pp. 305-319.) The City of Meridian also filed the motion and supporting briefing with the Ada County Clerk in the matter of "*In Re: Facilities, Equipment Staff Personnel, Supplies and other Expenses of the Magistrate Division*." (*Allen Aff.*, Exh. 2, R. Vol. I, p. 320). The copy of the *Motion for Reconsideration* in the City of Boise's file bears the date stamp of Ada County Clerk David Navarro.

As set forth in the *Memorandum in Support of Motion to Reconsider or Delay Imposition*, the cities of Meridian and Garden City requested that the District Judges reconsider the 1994 Order primarily on the grounds that it was entered without affording the cities "due process" – *i.e.* notice and the opportunity to be heard. (*Nary Aff.*, Exh. C, R. Vol. I, pp. 285-295.) First, the **APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF - pg. 7** cities pointed out that neither Meridian nor Garden City had been served with the Petition or even notified that it had actually been filed with the Fourth Judicial District. (*Id.* at pp. 285-287.) Second, Meridian and Garden City objected to the District Judges signing the 1994 Order "exparte" and after considering only the information included in the unverified Petition. (*Id.* at pp. 285-287, 286-287.) Third, the cities challenged the fact that the 1994 Order had been signed without the District Judges holding any hearings at which either Meridian or Garden City were invited to attend or allowed to be heard. (*Id.*) In sum, the cities argued that they "were denied due process in this matter" and requested that the District Judges set the 1994 Order aside. (*Id.* at pp. 289, 290.)

Although the cities of Meridian and Garden City had requested a hearing on their joint *Motion for Reconsideration or Delay in Execution*, the District Judges did not allow the cities a hearing. (*Nary Aff.*, R. Vol. I, p. 268.) Further, it appears that the District Judges never ruled on the motion, as there are no subsequent orders either denying or granting the same. (*Id.*)

By letter dated August 24, 1994 to Garden City, the Trial Court Administrator, John Traylor, set forth what he felt were the minimum requirements for establishing a magistrate facility. He also addressed some logistic and fiscal concerns raised by the Garden City Attorney. (*Affidavit of Heather McCarthy in Opposition to Garden City and Meridian's Motion to Vacate the 1994 Order* (hereinafter "*McCarthy Aff.*"), Exh. G., R. Vol. I, pp. 379-383.) By letter to Judge Schroeder dated September 1, 1994, Meridian's City Attorney, Wayne Crookston, explained his uncertainty as to the nature of the Order, either administrative or judicial, and how **APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF - pg. 8**

to set the Motion for Reconsideration for hearing. Wayne Crookston further requested that a hearing or meeting be scheduled to consider the Cities' Motion. (*McCarthy Aff.*, Exh. H., R. Vol. I, p. 384.)

By letter dated October 19, 1994, to Judge Schroeder, Mr. Crookston recounted a previous telephone conversation with Judge Schroeder wherein Judge Schroeder informed Mr. Crookston that the District Judges had decided to <u>continue</u> the Order. (The alternate relief requested by the Cities in their Motion.) (*McCarthy Aff.*, Exh. I., R. Vol. I, p. 385.) Judge Schroeder confirmed this decision by letter dated October 21, 1994. The Order was to be continued and effective October 1, 1995. (*McCarthy Aff.*, Exh. J., R. Vol. I, p. 386.) No correspondence was sent until March 8, 1995 when John Traylor wrote the Cities and again detailed the requirements for magistrate court facilities in the respective Cities. (*McCarthy Aff.*, Exh. L., R. Vol. I, p. 389.)

Any effort to enforce the 1994 Order ceased by October, 1995. By letter dated October 10, 1995, John Traylor wrote the following to Wayne Crookston:

As you know, the Ada County Commissioners are seriously pursuing construction of a new courthouse to be located at the intersection of 3rd and Front Streets. The initial thoughts on design include "twin towers" concept wherein county administration and court functions would be located in opposite ends of the building....It is my hope that each department which will be affected by this building, or who will be located therein, will have a chance to offer input as to needs.

It is also my understanding that your City may wish to negotiate with the county for some space allocation in the new building. I believe that it is none too early for you and your staff to begin formulating ideas and suggestions for what your needs will be in a new courthouse.

(McCarthy Aff., Exh. M., R. Vol. I, p. 391.)

The clear intent for the County to build and fund the new courthouse was stated in the contract executed by Ada County and the City of Boise in 1999. This contract was at issue in *City of Boise v. Ada County*, 147 Idaho 794 (2009). The contract contained a recital which stated:

WHEREAS, For reasons good and sufficient unto it, the County of Ada has elected to provide at its sole cost and expense a single courthouse complex for both the District Court and Magistrate Division thereof, including the functions of the District Court, both civil and criminal, and probate court, police court and justice as those functions existed prior to judicial reorganization.

(Complaint for Declaratory Relief, Exh. E., R. Vol. I, p. 35.)

The 1994 Order was not discussed again until thirteen years later, when, during a 2008 joint meeting including staff from Ada County, and the Cities of Boise, Meridian, and Garden City, the Ada County Commission informed the Cities that the revenue generated by court costs and fines was inadequate to cover the funding of the Magistrate Division of the Ada County District Court. (*McCarthy Aff.*, Exh. P., R. Vol. I, p. 394.) Discussions ensued by the parties, but no agreement could be reached. Ultimately, on July 1, 2010, the County sent an invoice to each City for \$660,350.80. (*Complaint for Declaratory Relief*, Exh. B, C., R. Vol. I, pp. 14-28.) Each City refused to pay its respective invoices and this litigation ensued. (*Complaint for Declaratory Relief*, Exhs. D, E., R. Vol. I, pp. 29-35.)

Although this Court noted the 1994 Order in its decision in *City of Boise v. Ada County*, 147 Idaho 794, 799 (2009) and commented that the Cities had not complied with the 1994 Order, it must be noted that there are stark contrasts between the City of Boise's situation and the Appellant Cities. Unlike Boise, the Cities never provided municipal courts; Boise's municipal court was integrated into the unified court system in 1971. The Cities have never had a relationship with Ada County for the provision of court services and the Cities have never signed a contract for such services. Boise City sought the 1980 Order so that it could properly bond for the construction of a court facility. By contrast, the Cities never intended to provide a court facility. The City of Boise complied with its 1980 Order in one fashion or another until 2007 and Boise's 1980 Order remained in full force and effect during that time. *City of Boise v. Ada County*, 147 Idaho 794 (2009). Any effort to seek enforcement of the 1994 Order was abandoned by Ada County and the Fourth District Court in the mid 1990's.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- A. Whether the Panel erred in entering its 2012 Order.
- B. Whether the Panel erred in denying Appellants' Motion to Vacate the 1994 Order.
 - a. Whether the Panel erred in ruling that the 1994 Panel had employed a "suitable process" prior to having entered the August 12, 1994 Order.
 - b. Whether the Panel erred in ruling that the Appellants were not entitled to any due process prior to the Panel entering the 1994 Order.

III.ARGUMENT

A. The Panel erred in entering its 2012 Order.

The Panel <u>improperly</u> converted Defendants' *Motion to Vacate the 1994 Order*, filed in Plaintiff's Declaratory Judgment action, into a Petition to Vacate the Order, after <u>properly</u> dismissing the declaratory judgment action.

In its Memorandum Decision entered on May 11, 2012, the *en banc* Panel explained the proper method for reviewing an I.C. §1-2218 order.

In further exercise of its inherent power, the *en banc* Panel finds that the proper method to consider a request to interpret, modify or vacate an existing order issued under I.C. §1-2218, is the same process followed by the City of Boise when it filed its petition to vacate the 1980 Order requiring it to provide suitable and adequate quarters for a magistrate's division of the district court. Any affected city or entity should petition the majority of the Fourth Judicial District district judges, sitting *en banc*, to consider modifying or vacating such an order.

(Memorandum Decision, R. Vol 1, p.418.)

In this instance, the Cities did not petition the Court to set aside or vacate the 1994 Order. In fact, the Cities were brought into court as defendants in a declaratory judgment action brought by Ada County, and unlike Ada County in the *City of Boise*, the Cities were never afforded the opportunity to fully develop or defend their cases prior to the Panel's entry of the Order. (R. Vol. I, pp. 05-11).

The Cities' filed a *Motion to Vacate the 1994 Order* in the declaratory judgment action specifically to address the issue of due process. This Motion was not intended to address every issue that defendants anticipated disputing in the declaratory action. (R. Vol. I, pp. 262-63). The **APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF - pg. 12**

Panel in its *Order Denying Motion to Vacate 1994 Order* converted the Cities' civil motion in the declaratory judgment action into a "petition" stating that the "Cities of Garden City and Meridian (collectively "Cities") petitioned to vacate a prior order...." (R. Vol 1, p.420). This totally mischaracterizes the proceeding as the defendants filed a motion based on the distinct and isolated issue of due process in a civil action; they did not file a petition with the Court.

The Panel then went on to state:

Unlike the City of Boise, the Cities do not move to vacate the 1994 Order on the basis there has been a "substantial and material change of circumstances that would justify" rescinding the 1994 Order... They do not challenge the caseload and revenue date cited by the City of Boise and Ada County in their 1994 petition which ultimately provided the factual basis for the judges' 1994 Order.

(R. Vol 1, p. 425) (citation omitted). The panel also noted that "there is no evidence that present caseloads generated by either city has gone down." (R. Vol. 1, p.426).

These are improper statements or findings which totally mischaracterize the Cities' position. The Cities did, in their respective answers, raise the issue that there had been a substantial change in circumstances since 1994. Had the Cities been given the opportunity to have a full and fair evidentiary hearing, the Cities would have certainly raised this critical issue. Further, had the Cities been afforded due process in the entry of the Order in 1994, the factual basis for the Order could have been challenged at that time.

The Cities filed a narrow motion in a civil declaratory judgment action. The Panel dismissed that action, but without basis then converted the Cities' motion into an administrative matter. The dismissal was appropriate, but converting the Cities' motion into an administrative **APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF - pg. 13**

matter in its decision after argument, and making further administrative findings on matters not before the Panel was inappropriate and violated the Cities' right to due process.

B. The Panel erred in denying the Appellants' Motion to Vacate the 1994 Order.

Meridian City and Garden City respectfully submit that the *en banc* Panel erred in failing to vacate the 1994 Order because the 1994 Panel did not follow its statutory mandate to follow a suitable process or mode of proceeding which conforms to the spirit of the Idaho Code. *I.C.* §1-*1622*. Further, the manner in which the 1994 Order was entered denied the Cities their fundamental right to due process.

a. The 2012 Panel erred in ruling that the 1994 Panel had employed a "suitable process" prior to having entered the August 12, 1994 Order.

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