# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-29-2013

# Ada County v. City of Garden City Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40084

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

# V. ARGUMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

### 1. The En Banc 2010 District Court Panel Utilized a Suitable Process.

As noted by this Court in *City of Boise, supra*, Idaho Code section 1-2218 provides no set procedure for the *en banc* 2010 Panel of Fourth District judges (the "*en banc* 2010 Panel") to use. *City of Boise*, 147 Idaho at 524, 215 P.3d at 804. Rather, Idaho Code section 1-1622 only requires that "any suitable process or mode of proceeding may be adopted which may appear most conformable to the spirit of the

code." *Id.* at 523 and 803. Appellants argue that they were deprived the opportunity to fully develop their Motion to Vacate the 1994 Order. However, this is untrue. No one, including the *en banc* 2010 Panel required or prevented the Appellants from filing their Motion to Vacate the 1994 Order. No one but the Appellants chose the grounds upon which to bring their Motion to Vacate. This was a motion brought entirely by the Appellants and at their own request.

As this Court described in *City of Boise, supra*, the party challenging an order issued pursuant to Idaho Code section 1-2218 bears the burden of proof. To satisfy its burden, the moving party must demonstrate that the order is no longer justified, due to either a change in the law or a change in the factual circumstances. *City of Boise*, 146 Idaho at 525, 215 P.3d at 805. Appellants provided neither<sup>6</sup>. To suggest now that they did not have the opportunity to fully present their facts when they chose the basis upon which to file the Motion to Vacate is unreasonable. To claim that they were not fully heard or that the process utilized by the *en banc* 2010 Panel was unfair is contrary to the record. Appellants engaged in extensive motion practice, discovery, briefing and argument for nearly seventeen months. The Appellants were allowed to file their Motion, brief their position, present evidence, and to engage the *en banc* 2010 Panel during oral

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Appellants make reference to a the construction of the new Ada County Courthouse in some of their briefing, which was addressed by this Court in *City of Boise*, 147 Idaho at 530, 215 P.3d at 810.

argument. Appellants had ample opportunity to present evidence regarding a change of circumstances and did not avail themselves of that opportunity. Appellants should not be provided yet another bite at the apple.

The *en banc* 2010 Panel properly understood that the Appellants' Motion to Vacate was a request to modify or vacate the 1994 Order. The *en banc* 2010 Panel understood that it had broad discretion in deciding whether or not to grant or deny Appellants' motion to set aside the 1994 Order. The *en banc* 2010 Panel's discretionary exercise of authority should be affirmed.

### 2. The *En Banc* 1994 District Court Panel Utilized a Suitable Process.

The *en banc* 1994 Panel of Fourth District judges (the "*en banc* 1994 Panel") established its own process when exercising its jurisdiction to enter an order pursuant to I.C. section 1-2218. The statutory process for a district court to create city magistrate courts in its magistrate division is simply for a majority of its district court judges to issue an order to the city. *Id.* This section does not prescribe a method of how the district court judges must come to issue an order. Specifically, it does not require that an adversarial proceeding, a petition, an administrative proceeding, or a request for a hearing be brought before the district court before it may issue an order requiring a city to provide facilities and equipment for its magistrate division. Neither does it require that it appoint a Special Master to investigate the necessity for a city magistrate court facility. Because

the plain language of section 1-2218 succinctly provides that "upon order of a majority of the district judges," the only process that is required is for an order of a *majority* of judges.

Where section 1-2218 does not create a process for the judges to organize a majority to agree to the order, section 1-1622 grants the *en banc* 1994 Panel authority to employ "any suitable process." Organizing a panel of judges is a suitable process because it complies with section 1-2218's requirement that an order is to be issued by a majority of the district's district court judges.

Furthermore, the Fourth Judicial District Court created the *en banc* 1994 Panel pursuant to its "inherent power to fashion suitable rules." This Court attributed section 1-1622 in *City of Boise v. Ada County* as a memorialization of this inherent power because it articulates a court's power to establish a means to carry out their duties through "any suitable process or mode of procedure." This inherent power enables courts to establish rules and processes to carry out its duties apart from legislative enactment; this inherent power enables courts to act apart from private parties' petition or appeal. Because section 1-2218 grants district courts authority to create magistrate court facilities in its cities, but does not codify a process of doing so, a district court's inherent power to fashion a suitable process of doing so is guided by its own determination of a suitable process or mode of procedure.

Contrary to the assertions of Appellants, a suitable process was in fact, developed by the District Court in 1994. The Trial Court Administrator engaged in conversations with the Mayors of the Appellant cities regarding the need for them to provide magistrate court facilities. (R. p 422). The Mayors declined. (R. p 422). After the Mayors declined to provide funding for magistrate court facilities the Trial Court Administrator requested Boise City and Ada County to start proceedings under Idaho Code section 1-2218. (R. p 422). The fact that a Petition was filed was obviously not a surprise to either city because they were provided copies and because counsel telephoned the Administrative Judge and engaged in discussions about the process and the pending order. (R. p 384). After the 1994 Order was issued the cities sought relief from the requirements of the 1994 Order in the alternative and were granted the alternative relief they sought. (R. pp 366-378, 386). That Appellants had multiple and frequent communications with the Administrative District Judge both before and after the 1994 Order was issued is abundantly demonstrated by the record. (R. pp 384, 385, and 386). As is discussed below the Appellants, for whatever strategic reason they deemed appropriate, chose not to appeal.

Appellants had access to the judiciary, sought alteration of the 1994 Order which was granted, and continued to discuss implementation of the 1994 Order with the Trial

Court Administrator long after it was issued as if the 1994 Order was binding, and chose not to appeal the 1994 Order.

The *en banc* 1994 Panel utilized an appropriate process under the circumstances then existing when exercising their inherent authority in issuing the 1994 Order and in discussing the needs of the Courts for suitable magistrate court facilities with the Appellant cities.

### 3 <u>Due Process Does Not Apply in This Context.</u>

The Appellants contend that the 1994 Order deprives the Appellants of a right. While Respondents argue that whatever violation there may have been in 1994 was cured by abundant and suitable process in nearly seventeen months of litigation commencing in 2010, to the extent this Court reaches the Appellants "due process" arguments about the 1994 Order, Respondents address that issue in this section.

Appellants would have this Court believe that the *en banc* 2010 Panel is the cities' adversary. Essentially, they argue that the *en banc* 2010 Panel has penalized and deprived them of a right in a process in which they did not have an opportunity to defend themselves<sup>7</sup>. Assuming for purposes of argument that the Appellants were not allowed to "defend themselves", this contention is unfounded because it: 1) presupposes the cities

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Respondents argue that the Appellants, contrary to their assertions, in fact successfully defended themselves in 1994 since they invoked the discretion of the Court and were granted the specific relief they sought.

have a "right" to refuse to provide magistrate court facilities; 2) forces the *en banc* 2010 Panel to become the party opposing the Appellants and to defend its own order; and 3) incorrectly states the facts of the last nineteen years of proceedings.

Creating a panel of the district court judges who agree to and sign an order is a suitable process and is a further permissible exercise of the District Court's inherent power. However the Appellants confound the process of creating magistrate courts with "due process." As the Court is aware, the hallmark of due process is notice and an opportunity to be heard. It secures an *individual's* right to defend him or herself before being deprived of a legal right. Appellants have simply misapplied principles of due process in the present case. Appellants do not have a "right" to refuse to provide facilities in direct contravention of a statute. As the 1994 Order was issued in compliance with the statute the cities only have a "right" to file a Motion or Petition to Vacate or Modify the Order. Due process, as governed in rules of criminal and civil procedure, is reserved for cases or controversies between parties with adverse interests. Here, there are no parties with adverse legal interests - there is only an order establishing magistrate courts. As this Court stated section 1-2218 does not create a cause of action. City of Boise, 147 Idaho at 802, 215 P.3d at 522.

### 4. The Appellants' "Due Process" Claims Regarding the 1994 Order Are Barred.

The *en banc* 1994 Panel considered the Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration or Delay in Execution and granted the Appellants the relief they sought in their Motion. (R. p 385). It granted the Appellants leave to delay in complying with the 1994 Order for one year. (R. p 385).

The Appellants were aware that their request to have the 1994 Order amended to allow for a delay in execution was granted as early as October 19, 1994 and no later than March of 1995. (R. pp 385, 389-390). The latest Appellants could claim that the 1994 Order became final was in 1995. However, the Appellants filed no appeal at that time. Correspondence from the Trial Court Administrator dated March 8, 1995, to each of the City Attorneys for Appellants stated that the 1994 Order remained in effect and that the District Judges expected that the cities comply with the 1994 Order. (R. p 389). Specifically it states:

On February 27, 1995, the District Judges of the Fourth Judicial District met and confirmed that their previous Order issued August 12, 1994 requiring your client cities to provide suitable quarters, etc., for the magistrate division is still in effect and expected to be complied with, and directed that I contact each of you regarding this matter. On August 24, 1994, I directed a letter to Jack Britton [copy enclosed] setting forth some minimum standards which we would accept with regard to that Order. By this letter, I also inform Mr. Crookston and the City of Meridian that the same standards set forth in that letter and this letter will apply to Meridian.

(R. pp 389-390).

At the very latest, upon receiving this letter, the Appellants should have sought appellate review of any issues they had with the 1994 Order. Their failure to timely raise these "due process" issues on appeal in 1994 or 1995, bars their claim.

Respondents further note, however, that Appellants are attempting to have their cake and eat it too. Appellants argue that the 1994 Order from the *en banc* 1994 Panel violated due process and that the decision was "judicial or "quasi-judicial". Appellants then cite to cases supporting the proposition that when a government makes a decision affecting an individual's rights, such as a deprivation of property, the individual is entitled to due process. Appellants then reason that failure to provide them a predetermination formal hearing in 1994 renders void the next nineteen years of effort by the courts to get the Appellants to provide magistrate courts.

Unfortunately for Appellants, as argued below, if the 1994 Order was a judicial or quasi-judicial decision to which principles of due process apply, then Appellants were obligated to raise any concerns they may have had through the appeals process. Failure to appeal an order when it became final deprives the courts of jurisdiction to consider issues not timely raised on appeal. On the other hand, ironically, it is only if the Appellants are not possessed of rights in this context, and consequently due process does not attach, that Appellants are not bound by the consequences of their failure to appeal in 1994 or 1995. While Respondents note above that Appellants have had multiple

opportunities to be heard, present evidence, which process Respondents argue, has more than satisfied any statutory and constitutional requirements that might have attached to the issuance of the 1994 Order, if due process is not required then Appellants have had the "appropriate process" contemplated by this Court's decision in *City of Boise*.

The Appellants did not provide, nor have the Respondents uncovered, any evidence that either Meridian City or Garden City appealed the original 1994 Order or the subsequent grant of the extension with regard to the implementation of the 1994 Order. Because they did not appeal the 1994 Order, it is too late to raise any issue regarding the lack of process. The following cases stand for the proposition that timely appeal is a prerequisite for an appellate court to have jurisdiction to review a case: *Johnson v. Blaine County*, 146 Idaho 916, 204 P.3d 1127 (2009); *State v. Huntsman*, 146 Idaho 580, 199 P.3d 144 (2009) *Castrigno v. McQuade*, 141 Idaho 93, 106 P.3d 419 (2005); *Hoskinson v. Hoskinson*, 130 Idaho 448, 80 P.3d 1049 (2003); *White v. Bannock County Commissioners*, 139 Idaho 396, 80 P.3d 332 (2003).

By not appealing the 1994 Order within the statutory time period, the Appellants abdicated any right to appeal that order. *First Security Bank v. Neibaur*, 98 Idaho 598, 602, 570 P.2d 276, 280 (1977). A timely appeal must be taken from a judgment that is final even when it is followed by a postjudgment order. *Id. See also* Idaho Code

§ 13-201; I.A.R. 14. Appellants should not be allowed to collaterally attack the 1994 Order they chose to let stand.

To summarize, this proceeding is not the kind of "judicial or quasi-judicial" proceeding to which due process attaches. If this Court determines that it is, then the Appellants sought and were granted the relief they requested in their Motion to Reconsider. They did not pursue the matter further. Without belaboring the obvious, the time for Appellants to raise their complaints about the validity of the 1994 Order came and went years ago.

# 5. <u>If Due Process Applies, Appellants Were Afforded Due Process.</u>

Assuming that the principle of due process applies in this instance, in the 2012 Order the *en banc* 2010 Panel further discussed that the legislative process, "itself is sufficient to comport with minimal federal due process requirements." (R. p 427). It further stated, "[d]ue process does not require the judges engage in some formalized process to come to a conclusion that a city's magistrate division caseload justifies imposing a requirement to provide facilities." (R. p 427).

As Respondents have previously described, Appellants have received process and arguably more process than required.

Prior to the 1994 Order being issued the Appellants had at minimum, conversations with the Fourth District Court Trial Court Administrator and apparently a

telephone conference with the then Administrative District Judge, followed by written confirmation of these communications. (R. p 384). After the 1994 Order was issued, the Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration or Delay in Execution. (R. pp 366-378). After further communications with the Administrative District Judge, the *en banc* 1994 Panel had granted the Appellants' request for a continuance in the execution of the 1994 Order to October 1, 1995. (R. p 386). Appellants engaged in further communications with the Court and Trial Court Administrator clear through October of 1995. (*See, e.g.,* R. pp 389-390). No appeal was ever filed.

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